No. 48705-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID RAMIREZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

David Ramirez's defense at trial was involuntary intoxication. He asserted he was not guilty of possessing methamphetamine or assaulting an emergency room nurse because he was hallucinating at the time the crimes allegedly occurred. Despite eliciting this testimony from Mr. Ramirez at trial, and arguing these facts to the jury, Mr. Ramirez's counsel requested the jury be instructed only as to voluntary intoxication.

Voluntary intoxication was not legally a defense to the charges against Mr. Ramirez and was incongruous with the facts presented at trial. The instructions, as advocated for by defense counsel, suggested to the jury that it should disregard Mr. Ramirez's defense of involuntary intoxication. Because defense counsel's performance was deficient and prejudiced Mr. Ramirez, this Court should reverse.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Ramirez was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22.

2. There was insufficient evidence for the jury's finding that Mr. Ramirez demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse.

3. The trial court failed to perform an individualized inquiry of Mr. Ramirez's circumstances before imposing \$2,300 in discretionary legal financial obligations.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22, guarantee a person accused of a crime the right to the effective assistance of counsel. A new trial is required where counsel's performance at trial was deficient and there is a reasonable probability that, but for the inadequate performance, the result at trial would have been different. Is reversal required where Mr. Ramirez's sole defense at trial was involuntary intoxication but defense counsel asked the jury be instructed on voluntary intoxication instead?

2. A jury is required to find any facts supporting an aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court has upheld a jury's finding that the defendant displayed an egregious lack of remorse where the accused relished in killing another human being. Where Mr. Ramirez sought medical attention for hallucinations, touched a nurse's breast, and then expressed his belief that the nurses invited or appreciated his advances, did the State fail to present sufficient evidence for this aggravating factor?

3. A trial court must consider a defendant's individual circumstances before imposing discretionary legal financial obligations at sentencing. Where the trial court made a general statement that Mr. Ramirez could earn money, but the evidence suggested Mr. Ramirez had spent considerable time in confinement, struggled with drug addiction throughout his life, and had a limited work history, should this Court remand the case for consideration of Mr. Ramirez's resources and the nature of the burden the legal financial obligations would impose upon him as required by RCW 10.01.160(3)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Ramirez had a disagreement with his wife and went to a bar. 2 RP 256-67. He had a few drinks with people he met at the bar, who then invited him to a party. 2 RP 257. Shortly after arriving at the party, Mr. Ramirez was offered a drink and began hallucinating. 2 RP 258-59. He saw snakes and became fearful of the cats in the home. 2 RP 260. He was extremely embarrassed, but also terrified he was going to die. 2 RP 260. A woman drove him to the emergency room. 2 RP 260.

At the hospital, Mr. Ramirez informed the registration receptionist that he was hallucinating. 1 RP 127. The triage nurse led

Mr. Ramirez into an examination room, introduced herself, and offered him a hospital gown. 1 RP 134-35. As she turned toward Mr. Ramirez to give him the gown, he reached out and silently grabbed her right breast. 1 RP 135. However, he immediately let go and backed away from the nurse, moving to the other side of the room. 1 RP 136. The police were contacted and Mr. Ramirez was moved to an examination room reserved for psychiatric patients. 1 RP 137, 151.

When an emergency room technician attempted to draw Mr. Ramirez's blood, Mr. Ramirez told him that based on the way the nurses were dressed, he believed they wanted to have sex with him. 1 RP 147. The technician believed Mr. Ramirez was masturbating while in the bed. 1 RP 149. He also observed that Mr. Ramirez appeared to be under the influence of drugs. 1 RP 152. He noted that Mr. Ramirez was sweating profusely and mumbling to himself. 1 RP 152.

When a security guard arrived, Mr. Ramirez was shouting profanities and yelling that he was "not gay." 1 RP 161. He told the security guard that the nurses should be grateful to be groped. 1 RP 163. When told he had been masturbating, Mr. Ramirez expressed surprise, asking the guard, "was I masturbating?" 2 RP 283.

The physician who treated Mr. Ramirez observed that Mr. Ramirez seemed agitated and was speaking quickly. 2 RP 217. Mr. Ramirez's heart rate and blood pressure were high and he continued to complain of hallucinations. 2 RP 218. Mr. Ramirez told the doctor that he wanted to have sex with a nurse. 2 RP 218.

After the police arrived, a substance that later tested positive for methamphetamine was found in Mr. Ramirez's wallet. 1 RP 192; 2 RP 246.

The State charged Mr. Ramirez with third degree assault with sexual motivation and possession of methamphetamine. CP 1-2. It also alleged three additional aggravating circumstances: (1) Mr. Ramirez demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse; (2) his prior unscored misdemeanor history resulted in a presumptive sentence that was clearly too lenient; and (3) he had committed multiple current offenses and his high offender score resulted in one of the current offenses going unpunished. CP 25.

Mr. Ramirez's defense at trial was that he was experiencing hallucinations as a result of a substance he had consumed involuntarily at the party he attended with strangers. 2 RP 259-60, 264. Although Mr. Ramirez's attorney relied on these facts to argue for acquittal, he

did not request the jury be instructed as to involuntary intoxication. 2 RP 329. Instead, he successfully argued for the jury to be instructed on voluntary intoxication after this instruction was proposed by the State. 2 RP 239-40, 293-94.

The jury found Mr. Ramirez guilty of the possession and assault charges and found he committed the assault with sexual motivation and had displayed an egregious lack of remorse. CP 63-66. The trial court sentenced Mr. Ramirez to a consecutive sentence totaling 84 months, based on the judge's finding that the unscored misdemeanor history resulted in a presumptive sentence that was clearly too lenient and that his high offender score resulted in the possession charge going unpunished. CP 90.

E. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Ramirez was denied the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney requested a voluntary intoxication instruction that conflicted with the defense’s theory of the case.

- a. Mr. Ramirez had the constitutionally protected right to the effective assistance of counsel.

A person accused of a crime has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI;¹ Const. art. I, § 22;² *United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); *State v. Khan*, 184 Wn.2d 679, 688, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). “The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel’s skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the ‘ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution’ to which they are entitled.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (quoting *Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann*, 317 U.S. 269, 276, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942)).

An accused’s right to be represented by counsel is a fundamental component of our criminal justice

¹ The Sixth Amendment provides, in relevant part, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.”

² Article I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution provides, in relevant part, “In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel...”

system. Lawyers in criminal cases are necessities, not luxuries. Their presence is essential because they are the means through which the other rights of the person on trial are secured. Without counsel, the right to trial itself would be of little avail, as this Court has recognized repeatedly. Of all the rights an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have.

Cronic, 466 U.S. at 653-54 (internal quotations omitted).

A new trial should be granted if (1) counsel's performance at trial was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. An attorney renders constitutionally inadequate representation when he or she engages in conduct for which there is no legitimate strategic or tactical basis. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1998). A decision is not permissibly tactical or strategic if it is not reasonable. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000); *see also Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) ("[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms" (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688)). While an attorney's decisions are treated with deference, his actions must be reasonable under all the circumstances. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 533-34.

If there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's inadequate performance, the result would have been different, prejudice is established and reversal is required. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Khan*, 129 Wn.2d at 688. A reasonable probability "is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). It is a lower standard than the "more likely than not" standard. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of fact and law [and is] reviewed *de novo*." *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

b. Defense counsel's performance was deficient.

- i. *Mr. Ramirez's defense at trial was that he was not criminally responsible for his actions because he had been drugged against his will.*

Mr. Ramirez was charged with third degree assault by battery with sexual motivation and possession of methamphetamine. CP 1-2, 5. His sole defense to these charges at trial was that he was experiencing hallucinations at the time he allegedly grabbed the nurse's breast and was in possession of the drug. 1 RP 124 (opening argument discussing hallucinations); 2 RP 259-60, 264 (Mr. Ramirez's testimony

about the hallucinations); 2 RP 329 (relying on the hallucinations in closing argument to argue for acquittal).

The evidence presented by the defense indicated Mr. Ramirez had involuntarily ingested the drug that produced the hallucinations. Mr. Ramirez testified he had a disagreement with his wife on the day preceding the incident and went to a bar. 2 RP 256-57. He had approximately three to four beers before leaving the bar at 2:00 a.m. with people he had just met that night. 2 RP 257-58. Not long after arriving at the home of one of these people, he was given what he believed to be a beer and he started experiencing hallucinations. 2 RP 258-59. One of the women at the house then dropped him off at the hospital. 2 RP 260.

Involuntary intoxication is a complete defense to a crime. *State v. Mriglot*, 88 Wn.2d 573, 575, 564 P.2d 784 (1977); *State v. Stacy*, 181 Wn. App. 553, 570, 326 P.3d 136 (2014). A defendant may argue for acquittal based on the fact that his involuntary intoxication put him in such a state of mind that he did not “know the nature and quality of his act or know that his act [was] wrong.” *Mriglot*, 88 Wn.2d at 575. “[O]nce a defendant has shown that the degree of his involuntary intoxication meets the appropriate insanity test, his criminal capacity is

vitiating and the jury never reaches the issue of specific intent.”

Mriglot, 88 Wn.2d at 576. The burden is on the defendant to prove the defense of involuntary intoxication by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Deer*, 175 Wn.2d 725, 736, 287 P.3d 539 (2012).

Despite the fact that involuntary intoxication was Mr. Ramirez’s sole defense at trial, defense counsel failed to assert this theory to the jury and requested the jury be instructed on voluntary intoxication instead.

ii. *Defense counsel initially rejected pursuing a diminished capacity defense to the charges against Mr. Ramirez.*

Prior to trial, the State asked to clarify on the record that Mr. Ramirez was not pursuing a diminished capacity defense. 1 RP 19. Diminished capacity is an appropriate defense when a defendant argues voluntary intoxication impaired his ability to form the requisite level of intent. *State v. Thomas*, 123 Wn. App. 771, 776, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004). It may be asserted only “when either specific intent or knowledge is an element of the crime charged.”³ *Id.* at 779. In such cases, the jury may

³ Traditionally, the rule was that evidence of diminished capacity could negate specific intent but not general intent. *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 919, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). However, RCW 9A.08.010 replaced the concepts of specific and general intent with four levels of culpability: intent, knowledge, recklessness, and criminal negligence. *Id.*; *State v. Allen*, 101 Wn.2d 355, 359, 678 P.2d 798 (1984).

consider evidence of diminished capacity to determine whether the accused had the capacity to form the requisite mental state. *Id.*; *see also State v. Marchi*, 158 Wn. App. 823, 834, 243 P.3d 556 (2010) (explaining that the defense of diminished capacity is treated as a rule of evidence, which permits the defense to introduce evidence relevant to the individual's subjective state of mind).

Addressing the assault charge, defense counsel explained that while Mr. Ramirez might take the stand and testify about the hallucinations he experienced at the hospital, the defense was not asserting a diminished capacity defense because Mr. Ramirez had been charged with "a crime of intent." 1 RP 20. While defense counsel's explanation was vague, he was correct to consider the nature of the crime when considering how to defend against the charges at trial.

This Court has defined assault by battery as "an unlawful touching with criminal intent." *State v. Keend*, 140 Wn. App. 858, 866-67, 166 P.3d 1268 (2007) (quoting *State v. Russell*, 69 Wn. App. 237, 246, 848 P.2d 743, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1003, 859 P.2d 603 (1993)). It requires the mens rea of intent, but not the specific intent to accomplish some further result. *Id.* at 866. "[A]ssault by battery simply requires intent to do the physical act constituting assault." *Id.* at

867. Similarly, possession of a controlled substance is a strict liability crime. *Deer*, 175 Wn.2d at 735. Because neither of the crimes alleged by the State required specific intent or knowledge, defense counsel properly considered, and rejected, raising diminished capacity due to involuntary intoxication as a defense. *Thomas*, 123 Wn. App. at 776.

iii. *Despite explicitly rejecting a diminished capacity defense, counsel later advocated for the voluntary intoxication instruction proposed by the State.*

Despite the fact the defense made it clear it would not be pursuing a diminished capacity defense, and the evidence at trial supported only an involuntary intoxication defense, the State proposed a voluntary intoxication instruction. 2 RP 239. In response to questioning by the court the State explained, “[w]ell I assumed that the defendant would ask for it, but if he doesn’t want it, I don’t think it’s necessary.” 2 RP 239. The court then engaged in the following exchange with defense counsel:

[Defense counsel]: I don’t have any objection to it.

THE COURT: Well, that’s not what I’m hearing. What she was saying is that if the defendant doesn’t want it, then she doesn’t think it needs to be given.

[Prosecutor]: If he is submitting – if he is saying that he wants the instruction, then I will submit it.

[Defense counsel]: That's fine with us.

THE COURT: Do you want it or not?

[Defense counsel]: Yes.

2 RP 239-40.

However, before closing arguments, the State asked to be heard on the voluntary intoxication instruction again. 2 RP 292. The deputy prosecuting attorney asked to withdraw the instruction, based on her understanding that the instruction was only appropriate where voluntary intoxication had been asserted as a defense. 2 RP 292-93. Defense counsel argued that the State should not be permitted to withdraw the instruction after proposing it and that, in any event, Mr. Ramirez had testified to voluntarily drinking beer that night. 2 RP 293.

The State responded, and the court agreed, that there had been no evidence presented that the beers voluntarily consumed by Mr. Ramirez caused his hallucinations. 2 RP 294. Thus, the instruction was inappropriate. 2 RP 294. However, despite this finding by the court, it acceded to defense counsel's wishes after the deputy prosecuting attorney acknowledged the State would not be harmed by the instruction. 2 RP 293-94.

The State was correct in moving to withdraw the instruction. Indeed, as the deputy prosecuting attorney pointed out, the “Note on Use” immediately following the pattern jury instruction stated the instruction should not be used in cases where involuntary intoxication was claimed. 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Inst. Crim. WPIC 18.10 (4th ed. 2016). If nothing else, this should have alerted defense counsel to his error.

Defense counsel proposed an unwitting possession instruction as to the possession charge, which the Court granted. 2 RP 290-91. At no point did defense counsel request that the jury be instructed as the defense of involuntary intoxication.

iv. Defense counsel’s advocacy for an improper instruction, and failure to request the appropriate instruction, constituted deficient performance.

While a legitimate trial tactic cannot serve as the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the attorney’s trial strategy must be based on reasoned decision-making. *In re Pers. Restraint of Hubert*, 138 Wn. App. 924, 928, 158 P.3d 1282 (2007). This Court has found that a failure to request an instruction on a possible defense, which is not based upon reasoned decision-making, constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.*

In *Hubert*, the defendant was charged with second degree rape after he allegedly went into an acquaintance's bedroom and began having sex with her while she slept. *Id.* at 927. According to the defendant, the complaining witness was awake and initially receptive to his advances. *Id.* at 929. Despite the defendant's testimony to this effect, defense counsel failed to raise or argue the "reasonable belief" defense. *Id.* This Court held the attorney's failure to advance the defense presented at trial was "plainly deficient performance." *Id.* at 930.

In *Hubert*, it was apparent the trial attorney's failure was not a strategic decision because the attorney specifically attested he was unfamiliar with the statutory defense at the time of the trial. *Id.* at 929. However, this Court reached the same result in *State v. Powell* without a declaration from defense counsel. 150 Wn. App. 139, 155, 206 P.3d 703 (2009). In *Powell*, the defense attorney's presentation to the jury suggested he was aware of the "reasonable belief" defense. *Id.* Yet he failed to request an instruction despite the fact the evidence supported this defense, counsel had effectively argued this defense to the jury, and an instruction would have been consistent with the defendant's theory of the case. *Id.*

Here, Mr. Ramirez's defense at trial was involuntary intoxication. 2 RP 259-60, 264, 329. Defense counsel recognized this was the defense, elicited testimony from Mr. Ramirez about the fact Mr. Ramirez had involuntarily ingested a hallucinogen, and relied on these hallucinations in arguing for acquittal. 2 RP 259-60, 264, 329. Yet, just as in *Hubert* and *Powell*, defense counsel failed to request the jury be instructed on the defense's theory. Even worse, the trial attorney then requested an improper voluntary intoxication instruction over the State's objection. 2 RP 239-40. This instruction only served to undermine Mr. Ramirez's defense at trial, informing the jury:

No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication is less criminal by reason of that condition. However, evidence of intoxication may be considered in determining whether the defendant acted with intent.

CP 55.

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