No. 48705-5-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

DAVID RAMIREZ,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

JESSICA L. BLYE, WSBA No. 43759 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

It would be completely reasonable for Ramirez's attorney to decide that the evidence for voluntary intoxication was more credible than involuntary intoxication, especially in light of the fact that officers found methamphetamine in Ramirez's belongings and Ramirez told multiple witnesses he had been using drugs. Emphasizing the involuntary intoxication defense in the alternative would make his primary argument look weaker, and focusing on a more credible voluntary intoxication defense would be more effective. "That this strategy ultimately proved unsuccessful is immaterial to an assessment of defense counsel's initial calculus; hindsight has no place in an ineffective assistance analysis." *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 43. Because it was a reasonable trial tactic, Ramirez has not made the required showing that his attorney's performance was deficient and his ineffective assistance claim fails. This Court should affirm Ramirez's conviction.

3. If Ramirez's Attorney Is Found To Be Deficient, Ramirez Has Not Met His Burden To Show That He Was Prejudiced By The Deficient Performance Of His Attorney.

The State maintains that Ramirez's attorney's performance was not deficient. Arguendo, if this Court were to find Ramirez's attorney's performance deficient, Ramirez has not met his burden to show he was prejudiced.

Ramirez must show that, but for his attorney's error for failing to request an involuntary intoxication jury instruction, the jury would have found Ramirez not guilty. *See Horton*, 116 Wn. App. at 921-22.

Ramirez cites *In re Hubert*, 138 Wn. App. 924, 158 P.3d 1282 (2007) and *State v. Powell*, 150 Wn. App. 139, 206 P.3d 703 (2009) to argue that his attorney's failure to propose the instruction and argue the defense prejudiced him. Brief of Appellant 16-19.

In *Hubert*, the defendant's attorney failed to propose a jury instruction on the reasonable belief affirmative defense to the charge of second degree rape. 138 Wn. App. at 929. The defense attorney attested that his failure to propose the instruction was due to his not being familiar with the defense. *Id.* The Court found the attorney's performance deficient, as there was no conceivable strategy in failing to investigate the relevant statutes under which his client was charged to learn of and argue the defense. *Id.* at 929-30.

In *Powell*, the defendant's attorney also failed to propose a jury instruction on the reasonable belief affirmative defense to the charge of second degree rape. 150 Wn. App. at 155. The Court found that without the reasonable belief instruction, it would have appeared to the jury that it had no option but to convict the defendant if it found beyond a reasonable doubt that he had sexual contact with an incapacitated victim, regardless of whether it also found the defendant reasonably believed she had consented. *Id.* 156-57. The

Court found the absence of the instruction essentially nullified Powell's defense. *Id.* at 157.

One of the primary reasons to distinguish this case from *Hubert* and *Powell* is because Rape in the Second Degree does not require proof of the existence of any mental state. *State v. Walden*, 67 Wn. App. 891, 895, 841 P.2d 81 (1992). It is only once the "reasonable belief" defense is raised, that the defendant's mental state, what he believed at the time, becomes an issue. RCW 9A.44.030(1). However, Assault in the Third Degree does require evidence of mental state within the State's burden of proof. The State has to prove the defendant intentionally assaulted the victim. *State v. Mathews*, 60 Wn. App. 761, 766-67, 807 P.2d 890 (1991).

Here, the jury was told in the to convict instruction that in order to find Ramirez guilty of Assault in the Third Degree, they needed to find beyond a reasonable doubt that he assaulted Wilkinson. CP 145. The jury was informed that assault is defined as "an intentional touching of another person." CP 48. Juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 29, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). Defense counsel focused the argument on a lack of intent due to intoxication and he also referenced Ramirez's testimony that he had not intentionally consumed drugs. RP 322, 329-30, 332-

33. Had the jury believed that Ramirez had been so intoxicated that he was legally insane and could not know the nature and quality of his act or know that his act was wrong, jury would not have found his assault of Wilkinson to be intentional, and the jury would have found Ramirez not guilty.

However, the jury did find Ramirez guilty of Assault in the Third Degree. CP 63. This means that the jury found each element of the crime was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. It also means the jury did not find Ramirez was unable to form intent due to his intoxication. CP 14. This implies that even if the trial court gave an instruction on involuntary intoxication, the jury still would have found Ramirez guilty. Ramirez's ineffective assistance of counsel argument fails as he was not prejudiced by his attorney's performance and this Court should affirm the conviction.

B. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE JURY'S FINDING THAT RAMIREZ DISPLAYED AN EGREGIOUS LACK OF REMORSE.

Ramirez argues the State did not present sufficient evidence to sustain the jury's finding by special verdict that he displayed an egregious lack of remorse in committing Assault in the Third Degree. Brief of Appellant 22-23. The State presented sufficient evidence to sustain the jury's finding. The trial court imposed Ramirez's sentence

on other, unchallenged grounds, therefore Ramirez's sentence stands regardless.

1. Standard Of Review.

Sufficiency of evidence is reviewed in the light most favorable to the State to determine if any rational jury could have found all the essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

2. There Was Sufficient Evidence Presented To The Jury To Sustain The Special Verdict That Ramirez Displayed An Egregious Lack Of Remorse.

A challenge to a jury's finding of an aggravating factor is reviewed under the sufficiency of the evidence standard. *State v. Chanthabouly*, 164 Wn. App. 104, 142-43, 262 P.3d 144 (2011) *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1018 (2012). When determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). If "any rational jury could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt", the evidence is deemed sufficient. *Id.* An appellant challenging the sufficiency of evidence presented at a trial "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences therefrom are drawn in favor of the State. *State v.*

Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). When examining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is just as reliable as direct evidence. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The role of the reviewing court does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), *citing State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Further, "the specific criminal intent of the accused may be inferred from the conduct where it is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d at 638.

An aggravating factor cannot be a factor inherent in the crime, as part of the elements necessary to prove the offense. *State v. Jennings*, 106 Wn. App. 532, 555, 24 P.3d 430 (2001) (citation omitted). An aggravating factor is something that distinguishes the behavior of the defendant from the behavior inherent in the commission of that crime. *Id.*

A criminal defendant's lack of remorse can be an aggravating factor if the lack of remorse is of an egregious nature. *State v. Ross*, 71 Wn. App. 556, 563, 861 P.2d 473 (1993) (citations omitted). A defendant's conduct by exercising his or her right to remain silent or refuses to admit guilt cannot be considered as a lack of remorse. *State v. Russell*, 69 Wn. App. 237, 251, 848 P.2d 743 (1993) (citation omitted). "Whether a sufficient quantity or quality of remorse is present in any case depends on the facts." *State v. Ross*, 71 Wn. App. 555.

In *Russell* the defendant was convicted of homicide by abuse of his 20 month old son. *State v. Russell*, 69 Wn. App. at 241. Russell beat his son several times in the head with brass knuckles, hid his son's injuries from the mother by not allowing her in their son's room and later when the mother was able to check on the child, finding him pale, limp and moaning, Russell attempted to block the mother's efforts to obtain medical treatment for their son. *Id.* at 241-42. The testimony elicited at trial showed that Russell hid his son, who was suffering from the injuries Russell had inflicted on the child, interfered with medical personnel, insisted on cleaning the apartment where his son died prior to a follow-up visit by the police, told relatives he had fooled the police and within a few days of his son's death, Russell

was ready and willing "to party." *Id.* at 752. Although Russell indicated remorse during the sentencing, the reviewing court found that the record supported the trial court's conclusion that any remorse shown lacked credibility and that Russell did exhibit an egregious lack of remorse. *Id.*

In Ross the defendant pleaded guilty to reduced charges, by an Alford⁴ plea, to one count of second degree murder and two counts of robbery in the first degree. State v. Ross, 71 Wn. App. at 560. The trial court sentenced Ross to an exceptional sentence based upon a number of aggravating factors, including egregious lack of remorse. Id. at 560-61. The reviewing court held there was sufficient evidence to support the aggravating factor of egregious lack of remorse. Id. at 563-64. The court noted that while Ross testified he regretted killing the victim, the testimony of the community corrections officer and of Ross showed that Ross exhibited an extreme lack of remorse for the crimes he had committed. Id. at 563. The court noted Ross continued to place blame on the criminal justice system for his crimes, the trial court did not believe Ross was sorry and it was for the trial court to make any credibility determinations. *Id.* at 563-64.

-

⁴ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

Ramirez's words and conduct, as testified to by multiple witnesses, show an extreme indifference to the harm resulting from his assault of Wilkinson. Witnesses testified that for an extended time period after Ramirez grabbed Wilkinson's breast, Ramirez was seen to be masturbating. RP 149, 163. Ramirez made comments about how the nurses dressed and suggested that they wanted to have sex with him. RP 147. Ramirez made sexual comments when women walked by his room and said that they should be thankful and glad he groped her. RP 163.

Ramirez's comments and his conduct of masturbating in front of people while in the hospital were belittling in nature with respect to the harm suffered by Wilkinson and reflected an ongoing indifference to such harm. The comments and conduct suggest Ramirez took pleasure and enjoyment from the assault of Wilkinson. While there is no evidence that Wilkinson was directly exposed to Ramirez's comments or masturbation, increasing the suffering of the victim is not the only consideration when determining whether a defendant displayed an egregious lack of remorse. See WPIC 300.26. The nature and quality of the comments and conduct demonstrating an egregious lack of remorse are necessarily going to

be different in an Assault in the Third Degree with sexual motivation than they would be in cases involving homicide or murder.

The jury heard from Ramirez in direct testimony and was able to observe his demeanor and cadence on the stand to inform its decision. The jury determines the credibility and weight to give Ramirez's statements. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), *citing State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). When viewing the evidence and making inferences in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence presented to the jury to support and sustain the special verdict that Ramirez demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse.

3. The Trial Court's Imposition Of An Exceptional Sentence Was Based On Other Aggravating Factors.

If a trial court finds there are substantial and compelling reasons to impose an exceptional sentence it may order sentences to be served consecutively rather than concurrently. RCW 9.94A.535. The trial court must enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law setting forth its reason for imposing the exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.535. If a trial court relies upon reasons that are not substantial and compelling for the imposition of an exceptional sentence, it exceeds its authority and the matter is

required to be remanded for resentencing within the standard range. *State v. Ferguson*, 142 Wn.2d 631, 649, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001). If the trial court indicates it would have given the same sentence for any of the aggravating factors, a finding that one of the factors is invalid would not require the court to remand for resentencing. *State v. Jackson*, 150 Wn.2d 251, 276, 76 P.3d 217 (2003).

Ramirez does not challenge the trial court's findings for imposition of the exceptional sentence. Brief of Appellant 20. The trial court in the present case imposed consecutive sentences based on the free crimes doctrine and based on Ramirez's extensive unscored misdemeanor history. RP 377; RCW 9.94A.535(2)(b)-(c). The trial court held that either of the factors would justify the sentence. RP 386. The court did not consider the jury's finding of egregious lack of remorse when imposing the exceptional sentence. RP 377. If this Court finds there was insufficient evidence to sustain the jury's finding, the finding was not a basis for the exceptional sentence, remand for resentencing is not a proper remedy, and the sentence should be affirmed.

C. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT INFORMATION PROVIDED AT THE SENTENCING HEARING TO PROVIDE A BASIS FOR THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF THE LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.

Ramirez argues the trial court imposed legal financial obligations without any meaningful consideration of his ability to pay. Brief of Appellant 23-27. However, the information shared by Ramirez at his sentencing hearing was sufficient for the trial court to conclude that Ramirez had a present or future ability to pay the imposed legal financial obligations at the rate of 25 dollars a month. See CP 83. Further, Ramirez did not object to the imposition of the legal financial obligations. RP 375-76, 381-84. This court should affirm the imposition of the legal financial obligations.

A defendant who at the time of sentencing fails to object to the imposition of non-mandatory legal financial obligations is not automatically entitled to review. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Unpreserved legal financial errors do not command review as a matter of right. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 833. The trial court is required to consider a defendant's current or future ability to pay the proposed legal financial obligations "based upon the particular facts of the defendant's case." *Id.* at 834.

There was no objection to the imposition of legal financial obligations at the sentencing hearing. RP 375-76, 381-84. A timely

objection would have made the clearest record on this question. Therefore, the absence of an objection is good cause to refuse to review this question. RAP 2.5(a) (the appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error not raised in the trial court); *State v. Scott,* 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (RAP 2.5(a) reflects a policy encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources and discouraging a late claim that could have been corrected with a timely objection); *State v. Danis*, 64 Wn. App. 814, 822, 826 P.2d 1015, *review denied,* 119 Wn.2d 1015, 833 P.2d 1389 (1992) (refusing to hear challenge to the restitution order when the defendant objected to the restitution amount for the first time on appeal).

Ramirez informed the trial court at sentencing of his living and employment situation prior to getting these charges. RP 356-68. Ramirez told the court that he had been clean for many years and was doing well, getting on track. RP 359-60. Ramirez had been employed at the Weyerhaeuser Nursery in Rochester, working minimum wage. RP 359, 363.⁵ Ramirez told the court that his job was

-

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